

## Contents

Dear reader

3

4	Guidelines for responsible investments
7	Corporate governance
7	Product based exclusion criteria
8	Product based precautionary principles
9	Other relevant ethical considerations

- 10 Conduct etc.
- 11 Company assessments
- 18 Nordic Swan Ecolabelled fixed income fund
- 19 Pareto Global Corporate Bond sustainability framework



### Dear reader

You may not have thought about it, but you do influence business and industry. Through your investment in securities, directly or indirectly through our funds, you exert influence on companies' cost of capital. About time, then, to reflect on what you want to achieve by way of this influence.

It is easy to envision how we may influence borrowing costs. If a sufficient number of investors line up when a company issues a bond, the company gets away with a lower coupon (interest rate) – especially if those investors are big enough to take part in bond issuance pre-sounding, as we are.

In the stock market there is no fixed interest rate. However, if it is hard for a company to attract sufficient new equity or avoid extensive dilution of ownership, equity comes at at high cost. Given a low share price there is also a potential cost limiting future expansion, even if there are no immediate plans of issuing new equity.

In Pareto Asset Management we spend ever more time thinking about what we want our investment activity to achieve. We think of this as responsible investing. Inasmuch as our portfolio management has a decidedly long-term perspective, it is only natural that we take environmental, social and governance aspects into account. Such factors do influence long-term value creation and sustainability, and they entail a clear ethical guidance: We shall not make investments which constitute an unacceptable risk of contributing to unethical acts or omissions.

In 2014 we decided to formalise our commitment to responsible investments by signing the UN PRI (United Nations Principles for Responsible Investment). In March 2017, we presented our first PRI report.

In 2017 we became a member of Norsif, the Norwegian forum for responsible and sustainable investments, and of its Swedish sister organisation Swesif. Later the same year Pareto Global Corporate Bond became the first fixed income fund in Norway and Sweden to receive the Nordic Swan Ecolabel. We have hired a dedicated analyst in order to fulfil the strict requirements of the Nordic Swan Ecolabel.

In our view, our management philosophy is well suited for this purpose. Active management, thorough analyses of a limited number of companies and a long-term perspective form a good starting point for sustainable investments. If you are serious about achieving something by way of your investments, you just can't invest blindly in a broadbased index.

Sustainable investment, however, is a demanding exercise. It raises a lot of dilemmas and provides no clear answers, and it requires a lot of subjective judgement. It also entails a lot of erring on our part. We make mistakes, we learn from our mistakes, and we have to admit that we still have a lot to learn.

The report that you are now reading is the seventh of its kind. This, too, is a work in progress. We want to provide steadily better transparency and understanding of the way we work with responsible investment.

Included in the report are our guidelines for responsible investments, which have been updated and approved by the board. We also provide some more detail on how we go about implementing these guidelines, and on some of the institutions and sources we utilise.

Last, but not least, we provide an exposé of actual dilemmas: These companies have caused us a bit of headache, and still do. That way you gain an impression of the trade-offs and assessments we have to make in practice. We can make mistakes, but we can not avoid making decisions. In this report you will catch a glimpse of how these decisions have come about.

As they say: The proof of the pudding is in the eating.

Bon appétit!

Kind regards

Finn Øystein Bergh Chief Investment Officer



### Guidelines for responsible investments

#### 1. BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE

Pareto Asset Management AS ("Pareto Asset Management") aims at contributing to sustainable development of markets and long-term value creation by investing in a responsible and ethical manner. We believe that responsible investments are important for achieving the best possible risk-adjusted return for our unitholders and customers. Sustainability and sound corporate governance give companies competitive advantages and contribute to long-term value creation.

This document sets out guidelines for responsible investments undertaken by Pareto Asset Management on behalf of our unitholders and individual asset owners. The purpose of the policy is to prevent Pareto Asset Management from contributing to the violation of human rights, labor rights, corruption, environmental damage or other unethical actions. Furthermore, we consider it important to integrate sustainability assessments into our investment processes, as this can also affect the long-term value of our investment.

We expect the companies that we invest in to comply with the same principles.

As part of our efforts to promote responsible investments, Pareto Asset Management has signed the UN Principles for Responsible Investment ("UN PRI"). These guidelines are based on UN PRI, the UN Global Compact<sup>2</sup>, the guidelines for the Norwegian Government Pension Fund Global, the Principles for the exercise of ownership rights in investment companies from the Norwegian Fund and Asset Management Association, as well as internationally recognised principles and conventions.

#### 2. RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENTS

#### 2.1 Priorities

We seek to invest in companies that have good quality of operations and management. The companies should have a clear focus on ethical issues in their attitudes and actions, as well as having a value base for the business that complies with the guidelines. The companies must exert good corporate governance, comply with national legislation as well as international conventions, and show an open and complementary information policy. This means we emphasise social conditions, the environment, sustainability and good corporate governance when considering a company.

Ethical risk assessments must be conducted before an investment can be made.

#### 2.2 Exclusion of companies

Pareto Asset Management shall not be invested, on behalf of our funds and customers, in companies which themselves or through entities they control:

- Produce weapons that, in normal use, violate basic humanitarian principles
- Produce tobacco
- Sell weapons or military equipment to states subject to sanctions from the UN Security Council or other international measures directed at a particular country that Norway has supported (mandate for the management of the SPU section 3-1 second paragraph letter c)
- Mining companies and power producers that themselves or consolidated with controlled entities receive 30 percent or more of their revenues from thermal coal, or base 30 percent or more of their operations on thermal coal activity
- · Produce pornography

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The contents of UNPRI can be found here: www.unpri.org/pri/what-are-the-principles-for-responsible-investment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The UN Global Compact contains ten general principles derived from the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the ILO Declaration of Fundamental Principles and Rights in Work and the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This includes "the worst forms of child labour" as defined in the ILO Convention (No. 182) Article 3.



Pareto Asset Management may decide to exclude a company if there is an unacceptable risk that the company contributes or is responsible for:

- Human rights violations, such as killing, torture, deprivation of liberty, forced labour and exploitation of children, including child labour<sup>3</sup>
- Violations of individuals' rights in war or conflict situations
- Breach of basic employee rights
- Severe environmental damage
- · Actions or omissions that lead to greenhouse gas emissions at an aggregated company level
- Corruption
- · Other repeated or significant violations of basic ethical norms

Pareto Asset Management shall exercise a precautionary principle in connection with investments in biotechnology companies, gambling and alcohol.

#### 2.3 Exclusion decision

Companies listed on the exclusion list of the Norwegian Government Pension Fund Global after the decision of Norges Bank's Executive Board shall be automatically excluded from the investment universe of Pareto Asset Management.

If legitimate doubt arises as to whether an investment is in line with the guidelines, a separate ethical risk assessment shall be conducted. This assessment can be based on input from our customers and other stakeholders, as well as various publicly available sources. Pareto Asset Management will nevertheless always draw its own conclusions based on a specific assessment of objective, verifiable facts.

#### 3. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Pareto Asset Management shall exercise active ownership in the portfolio companies in order to promote responsible business operations. This means that we will use our ownership rights and influence in the companies to help move the companies in a positive direction in terms of social relations, environmental issues, sustainability and good corporate governance.

When there is a specific reason to believe that a company violates our policy of responsible investments, we will consider addressing the issue with the company's management and encouraging the company to correct the circumstances. If necessary change is not implemented, Pareto Asset Management will normally sell all positions in the company.





#### 4. RESPONSIBILITY FOR MONITORING AND CHECKING THE GUIDELINES

Pareto Asset Management has established an ethics committee entrusted with the responsibility to ensure that the company's guidelines for responsible investments are up to date and appropriate, as well as assess and decide exclusion of companies in accordance with paragraph 2.3 of the guidelines. It will also assist portfolio managers with training, advice and sparring as needed. In particularly demanding cases, the Ethics Committee shall inform the CEO.

The Ethics Committee is headed by the company's chief investment officer and consists, in addition, of representatives of different departments as required.

Twice a year, the Ethics Committee prepares a report on our guidelines for responsible investments and the practice of these. The report reviews specific topics we have worked with as well as relevant company assessments and dilemmas. It shall be available to our customers.

The chairman of the Ethics Committee shall annually provide the Board of Pareto Asset Management with an overview of the status of ongoing work for responsible investments in the company.

The Compliance Manager shall supervise compliance with our Guidelines for Responsible Investments, including the necessary exclusion of companies. In addition, the compliance officer will attend meetings of the Ethics Committee as an observer.

### Background and facts

Behind the UNPRI principles is the UN Environment Program Finance Initiative (UNEP FI). UNEP FI is a global partnership between the United Nations Environment Program and the financial sector. Among the goals for the collaboration is to identify, promote and realize best environmental and sustainability practices in the financial industry. Central to this collaboration are ESG questions, derived from the English concepts environmental issues, social issues and corporate governance.

Through our signature, we committed ourselves to respond to ESG questions that may follow, to the best of both our customers in the long run and for society as a whole:

- 1. We will implement ESG issues in our investment analysis and decision-making processes
- 2. We will practice active ownership and implement ESG in our ownership policy and its exercise
- 3. We will work for satisfactory reporting on ESG topics from our portfolio companies
- 4. We will promote acceptance and implementation of the principles in the financial industry
- 5. We will work with other signatories to strengthen the effect of the principles and their implementation
- 6. We will report on our activities and our progress in implementing the principles

Our signature also includes a more general, implicit obligation to follow principles and standards anchored in the UN. These are voluntary, non-judicial recommendations that express expectations of good corporate governance, and which provide expectations for good corporate practices in dealing with environmental and social issues. In assessing our investments, these principles and standards will act as a reference framework and guide.

The UN Global Compact contains ten general principles derived from the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the ILO Declaration of Fundamental Principles and Rights in Work and the Rio Declaration on Environment and Dvelopment. The principles are general and state, among other things, that companies must respect human rights and not be involved in violations of them, maintain freedom of association and collective bargaining rights, and eliminate all forms of forced labor, child labor and discrimination in working life.



### Corporate governance

#### **Engagement policy**

Pareto Asset Management conducts meetings with the management and board members in many of the portfolio companies, as well as shareholders, on a regular basis. This dialogue is the most important instrument we use in our work as an active owner.

Grounds for initiating engagement activities may be breach of ESG criteria, substantial investment in the company or a need for more information on critical ESG damage that has already occurred.

Requests from clients can also be grounds for engagement.

#### **Proxy voting**

Pareto Asset Management has established its own voting guidelines. These are based on the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance.

### Product based exclusion criteria

#### Weapons and ammunition

A variety of types of weapons, ammunition and warfare methods are prohibited under international law, such as the Geneva Convention.

Both Saab and Kongsberg Gruppen are currently excluded from the company's investment universe as a precautionary principle.

In 2015, it was concluded that Saab does not belong in our investment universe. The reasoning was based on an assessment of production-based exclusion criteria;

#### Tobacco

Tobacco is a legal stimulant, which according to WHO is causing several million deaths in the world each year.

#### Coal

Pareto Asset Management follows the Norwegian Government Pension Fund in its assessment of coal producing companies.

#### Pornography

Pareto Asset Management does not invest in companies producing pornography.





### Product based precautionary principles

#### Biotechnology

Modern biotechnology touches life's big questions and has an impact on what we think about human worth. It is therefore relevant to the whole global population, and not just doctors and researchers who carry out in vitro fertilisation, map genes and research stem cells. Investments in biotechnology may involve a risk of violation of fundamental ethical norms.

#### Alcohol

We have considered whether there should also be an absolute ban on investments in alcohol, but has concluded that it is neither desirable nor manageable in an ethically consistent and sound manner.

Alcohol as a food additive is generally considered to have many positive aspects. Furthermore, alcoholic beverages are embedded in most societies, with many businesses indirectly profiting from alcohol consumption. Breweries, wineries and distilleries stand out as obvious examples, but also wholesalers, hotels, restaurants, airlines, shipping companies, railways and especially grocery chains may have a significant portion of their profits from the sale or delivery of alcohol. The same applies, of course, to real estate companies with revenue-based rent, such as the listed company Olav Thon Eiendomsselskap (OSE).

An absolute ban on investments in companies with interests in alcohol will therefore likely be perceived as a case of double standards, and insurmountably complicated. In consideration of the significant social and health problems relating to alcohol abuse, the company will nevertheless apply a precautionary principle with investments in alcohol.

#### Gambling

We have considered whether there should be a ban on investments in gambling. At this point, our assessment is that a general ban is problematic for several reasons.

Gambling has a relatively wide definition, covering everything from games that primarily fills an entertainment function, to more economically active activities where the outcome is largely due to chance and luck.

For the purpose of these guidelines, it's the possible harmful effects that are of importance. The consequences of gambling can be summarised in one word: gambling addiction.

Pareto Asset Management does not want to act in a way that contributes to increasing and more harmful gambling addiction. As part of the investment process we must therefore always raise the question of whether the company in question has a way of business that it is likely to create gambling addiction.

In our opinion, a general ban will not contribute to better achievement. An important element is that a significant part of the gambling business largely, or wholly, fills an entertainment function. Although the gains are in the form of money, unlike the teddy bear in the amusement park, the stakes are normally such that participation is for fun, excitement and surprise, not because it nourishes some presumption of getting rich.

Furthermore, gambling, like alcohol, has such an extent that it can be difficult to draw sharp limits. One might imagine a kiosk chain with deployed slot machines of a type approved by the relevant authority, where the kiosks get a lease while the profits are due to a third party. The chain then has no benefit of increased gaming on the vending machines, and their own activity can be claimed to be limited to the letting of floor space.

Similarly, gambling is offered on most cruise ships and passenger ferries, as well as at some hotels. In addition, there are companies producing the game machines used without this being considered gambling. For these reasons, we have concluded that there should be no general ban on gambling. On the other hand, it seems obvious that it should apply a precautionary principle when investing in companies that offer gambling.



### Other relevant ethical considerations

In the following, some other ethical considerations are included, to show transparency and to highlight where our investment management is in relation to the following topics. The themes are consistent with Hearing NOU 2003:22: Asset management for the future and the ethical guidelines for the Norwegian Government Pension Fund Global.

- 1. Are these products or production processes so unethical that we do not want to contribute to such production, and
- 2. What basis can be used to determine whether a product is so unethical that we will not contribute to its production?

#### Ozone depleting substances and persistent organic compounds

Discharging and using hazardous chemicals is a major environmental threat. Many of the chemicals that were developed to control disease, increase food production or increase our living standards, have subsequently been shown to have serious environmental and health impacts.

#### Genetically modified food

According to NOU 2003:22, the question of excluding companies that produce genetically modified food is one of several proposals that have been promoted in the debate on the Government Pension Fund's investments. The argument is mainly related to potential negative environmental and health effects, especially in the long term, where it is considered that not enough meaningful research has been conducted, in addition to the ethical issues that this raises.

#### Biodiversity and tropical rainforest

According to the Rainforest Foundation, the palm oil industry is the main cause of the destruction of the rainforest in Southeast Asia. It threatens humans, animals and the climate. Palm oil is used in everything from food to makeup, shampoo, skin creams, candles, animal feed and biofuels.

In 2016, WWF issued the "Palm Oil Buyers Scorecard 2016", which measures the sustainability of purchasing palm oil.

Of companies in our portfolios, Nestlé was rated 6/9, whilst Unilever was rated 9/9. The survey included a limited number of companies.

#### Nuclear power

The risk of nuclear power is mainly related to safety and risk of accidents, but also to the health and environmental effects of radioactive radiation of the facilities, safety and costs associated with handling and transporting radioactive waste and decommissioning of the plants, as well as the risk of plutonium used for nuclear weapons.

#### Tax

In 2017, we participated in a round table discussion conducted by Norsif, where the theme was "How can institutional investors work with responsible tax?" This is a topic we are concerned with. If a company has a dubious tax policy, this can lead to increased company risk, whilst some forms of tax adjustment in themselves are unethical and do not contribute to sustainable development.



### Conduct etc.

#### Human rights violations

Gross or systematic violations of human rights such as killing, torture, deprivation of liberty, forced labour, the worst forms of child labour.

In our reviews, we have not found any circumstances that indicate that any of our portfolio companies contribute to such human rights violations.

#### Serious environmental damage

Serious environmental damages can be said to include severe climate impact in the form of relatively high greenhouse gas emissions, which is also in line with Norway's international commitments and the government's climate report.

Based on this review, we are not aware of circumstances that indicate that any of our portfolio companies contribute to serious environmental damage. However, we have found reason to assess the situation for Norsk Hydro's operations in Brazil (page 11).

#### Greenhouse gas emissions

Actions or omissions that unacceptably lead to greenhouse gas emissions at an aggregated company level. Many will argue that the oil industry contributes to unacceptable emissions of greenhouse gases. Therefore, we have looked into our investments in this sector.

In November 2016, the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) analysed the climate strategy of the world's largest oil and gas companies entitled "Which oil and gas companies are preparing for the future?"

Statoil (now Equinor) was top rated, followed by Eni and Total, while Exxon was in tenth place.

"Statoil performs strongly across most key areas. It has the highest percentage of gas in its proved reserve base and has increased the proportion of gas in its production the most in recent years. With a low reserve life (and high percentage of developed proved reserves) it potentially has more flexibility than others to adapt its capital expenditure strategy. The company has the lowest upstream emissions intensity and manages its methane and flaring emissions better than its peers. Statoil has also made recent commitments on low-carbon energy, focusing on offshore wind projects and has assessed the economic impact of the IEA450 scenario on its portfolio."

In November 2018, the report "Beyond the cycle" was issued, where the CDP analyses how oil companies are positioned towards the transition to a low carbon economy. Equinor is ranked on top of a total of 24 major oil companies. ExxonMobil, described in more detail on pages 12-13, is ranked as number 17.

#### **Gross corruption**

In August 2017, Samsung heir and Group Vice Chairman Lee Jae-yong (50) was sentenced to five years in prison for corruption.

Jae-yong was found guilty of enabling bribes to organisations where he expected reciprocal support from former President Park.

We assume that this case will contribute to a changed pattern of action, both in the company and among shareholders. South Korea has a special business structure that from time to time has led to challenging corporate governance issues. The local markets are adapting to such global regulatory demands, and we look at the disclosures and verdict in this case as a step in the right direction.

#### Other particularly gross violations of basic norms

We have not identified other gross violations of basic norms.



### Company assessments

#### Norsk Hydro – crisis rains

In 2011, Norsk Hydro acquired the aluminium business of the Brazilian mining company Vale in the northern part of Pará. This made Norsk Hydro the largest aluminium company in South America. Part of the Brazilian business is Alunorte, the world's largest alumina refinery, with an estimated capacity of about six million tonnes per year. Hydro owns 92.1 per cent of Alunorte.

In February 2018 a heavy rainfall caused floods in the region. External sources claimed there was overflow or leakage from the bauxite residue deposit in Alunorte, while Norsk Hydro had prepared a report that rejected leaks from that area. More than 90 investigations and inspections were conducted by the relevant authorities which confirmed that there were no leaks or overflow from Alunorte's bauxite residue deposit. Also, third party studies have reached to the same conclusion. However, other weaknesses were noted at the facility. Preventive measures were implemented to increase water treatment capacity in case of extreme rainfall.

At this time, there was still great uncertainty and a hazy information picture. We therefore invited Norsk Hydro to a presentation at Pareto Asset Management, where we had a good opportunity to ask critical questions and get a better understanding of the situation.

Following a legal injunction, Alunorte reduced production by 50 per cent on March 1. Consequently, the bauxite mine Paragominas and the Albras aluminium plant reduced their production by 50 per cent.

Back in 2016 we visited a number of companies to get an impression of the regulatory framework and the view of the ethical standard among Norwegian companies. Our impression from the Rio regulators was that they perceived the ethical standard as being high. In the Alunorte case, however, Norsk Hydro has met a lot of criticism, and there has been an ongoing discussion with both authorities and interest groups.

Throughout spring and summer there was extensive contact with central and local authorities, before Alunorte on September 5 signed agreements that enabled full production at a later stage. In return, the company committed itself to technical improvement and payment of food vouchers for families in the area, as well as various measures and investments in community development. Here Alunorte provides a guarantee equivalent to almost half a billion Norwegian kroner, while an amount corresponding to 1,5 billion Norwegian kroner will be invested in wastewater handling and treatment systems.

At the beginning of October 2018, Alunorte nevertheless announced full shutdown of production. The reason was that the old bauxite residue deposit approached full capacity, while the company was not allowed to use modern press filter technology and the new deposit area. This happened shortly before the Brazilian presidential election.

Just two days later – after major local demonstrations in support of Alunorte – came the rescindment that allowed Alunorte to use press filter technology. Thus, the company could resume production at half pace. In January 2019 environmental authorities issued a technical opinion confirming that Alunorte can operate safetly at its installed capacity for effluent treatment.

All in all, the case involves a significant loss for the company. The share price has fallen by more than 30 per cent since the flooding, corresponding to a reduction of NOK 38-39 billion per share as of October 12.

From the very beginning, senior management has signalled by various means, including personal presence, that it is taking the problems in Brazil seriously. Our understanding is also that the desire for cleanup, learning and improvement is genuine and significant, which we emphasise. However, there is little doubt that the company has been consistently behind, and questions can certainly be posed about management's understanding of the risks in advance.

On a separate note, we observe that Norsk Hydro is the industry leader in the aluminium sector and included in the Dow Jones Sustainability World Index (DJSI World) for the second consecutive year. The latest assessment was dated 13 September 2018.



#### ExxonMobil - a fossil case

Many of our funds and discretionary management mandates have positions in oil companies or the oil service industry. We do not have fundamental objections to the industry as such. Oil and gas are key, integrated elements in all modern societies, and in many cases they can replace significantly more polluting coal.

As a matter of fact, however, limiting climate change is one of humanity's biggest challenges, and CO2 emissions from fossil fuels contribute significantly to global warming. Thus it is clear that the industry has a major social responsibility. We must consider whether we believe the companies we invest in take this responsibility seriously.

Pareto Total has had shares in ExxonMobil since September 2017. Much of the criticism of the company has been about its reluctance to acknowledge the effect of fossil fuels on the climate; some even claim that the company has attempted to refute such assertions against its better judgement. Similarly, ExxonMobil has devoted considerable resources to supporting groups or institutions that have argued against the concept of man-made global warming.

The company has been sued for attempting to misrepresent the risk of climate change, both by its own investors and by state attorneys. ExxonMobil has filed a counterclaim, but now emphasises that it supports efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in general and the Paris agreements in particular.

At the Annual General Meeting in 2017, the company was instructed to report on measures to comply with the two degree temperature target – keeping the global temperature rise below two degrees centrigrade. In February 2018, the company published a comprehensive analysis. The report was met with a mixed reception.

At about the same time, the company asked the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) for permission to block a shareholder proposal requiring the company to set emission cut targets. At the beginning of April 2019, it was announced that the SEC ruled in their favour, arguing that the proposed resolution would micromanage the company.

It is clear that ExxonMobil has little reason to boast of the company's contribution to understanding of global warming or its own information about the same. But it is also clear that the company today demonstrates a significantly better understanding – or willingness to understand.

In addition, extraction methods deserve a discussion. ExxonMobil owns recovery rights based on unconventional methods, one of which is best known as fracking.

The production method is based on drilling wells with hydraulic fracture — "blasting" in the reservoirs to allow recovery of hydrocarbons. This is done by means of a drilling fluid which is placed under high pressure in the well. The liquid consists of 90 per cent pure water, nine per cent sand and up to one per cent chemicals to adjust the liquid properties.

Pollution and the use of water is a continuous topic. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) found in 2016 that fracking in some cases had contaminated drinking water. In addition, the high consumption of water can pose a problem in areas with vulnerable water supply.

ExxonMobil does not seem to stand out in this area. The business is kept within the relevant legal framework and active efforts are made to reduce or minimise environmental consequences.

The question, for us as investors, is whether the technology as such constitutes an unacceptable risk. As Equinor also uses fracking, this has a broader relevance for us. We may add that Equinor has produced a document describing how these environmental challenges are handled.

Fracking has been in progress since 1949, but there have been technological advances in recent years which have made it possible for the United States to be self-sufficient in oil and gas. The potential damage should now be well mapped, which means that regulatory authorities have the necessary information and motivation to impose stricter requirements on specific projects. At the same time, technology is still developing rapidly, which makes it possible for ExxonMobil to be heard in its declared will to limit or minimise adverse effects.



We have concluded, on previous occasions, that this does not give rise to exclusion, but we keep the company under observation. It will be interesting to keep track of what the company is saying and doing.

#### Playtech - a gamble?

In November 2017, Pareto Global invested in Playtech. The company sells software to Internet-bases gaming portals. Playtech is a total supplier, meaning it provides a wide range of games in different game categories, as well as an integrated technology platform that includes customer accounts, risk management and IT operations. The finance website markets.com is also included in the product portfolio.

The company was established in Estonia and now has offices in 17 countries. The stock is listed on the London Stock Exchange.

When it comes to games, we apply a precautionary principle: We want to prevent our investments from contributing to serious gambling addiction.

Now, Playtech is basically a software company. However, the products significantly affect the experience that the players have, and the company also operates two casinos in Latvia and Romania, respectively. The question, therefore, is how the company handles these tasks.

Playtech operates in a total of 20 regulated jurisdictions, each with its own requirements for game design.

The company itself emphasises designing games that do not challenge regulatory requirements or players' psychology. In the company's opinion, orderly and decent games are a market advantage in an industry that is becoming increasingly regulated and we second that assessment – which in fact is also relevant to our ethical assessment.

The fact that Playtech is primarily a software company, not so much a game provider, can not be a decisive argument. It does entail, though, that the company is a subcontractor to a wide range of game providers, each meeting a variety of requirements and regulations – and in such a market Playtech will have to satisfy the customers with the strictest regulations. In an industry where the marginal cost is very close to zero, economies of scale will be crucial. Playtech is a major player in this market, which requires that they comply with the highest standards.

After an overall assessment, we find that Playtech can be in our portfolios. We will nevertheless keep a keen eye on the company and look out for signs of problems arising from the company's products.

#### Ryanair – a matter of negotiations

The Irish low-fare airline Ryanair has met a lot of criticism for its relationship with unions. For a long time, the airline was accused of breaking principle number three of the UN Global Compact. This principle is formulated as follows: "Businesses should uphold the freedom of association and the effective recognition of the right to collective bargaining;"

Ryanair has never denied employees the right to organise, but has refused to relate to external unions. Instead, it has negotiated with employees through so-called Employee Representation Committees (ERC), affiliated with the airline's various bases. Following a lawsuit in the Irish Supreme Court and a conflict in the Danish Labour Court, our conclusion has been that Ryanair has not broken with the UN Global Impact, but we thought it would be appropriate to place the company under review.

In December 2017, Ryanair announced that the company now recognises unions. At the beginning of April 2019, the company had signed collective agreements with more than 50 per cent of its employees, reportedly using the signed agreements as templates in further negotiations.



We bought Ryanair right after Brexit in 2016, but later sold our position with a considerable gain. Following the announcement that the company recognises unions, the stock has fallen considerably. We have once again bought into the company.

We may add that the airline has a generally new and fuel-efficient aircraft fleet. Although airlines are hardly an environmentally friendly industry, Ryanair is, in this respect, arguably best in class. In addition, the company has pledged to become plastic free by 2023.

However, we still want to keep the company under observation.

#### Danske Bank – the cleanup that was not over

Pareto Nordic Return invested in Danske Bank in August and early September 2018. The share had been relatively soft since the price peaked in May 2017, and it appeared to be much cheaper than the other major Nordic banks. Pareto Nordic Corporate Bond also had bonds in the bank, while Pareto Global Corporate Bond had just sold for commercial reasons.

At the time of this last purchase, Danske Bank was conducting an internal audit of its Estonian branch. Already in May, the Danish FSA had announced that it would impose fines on the bank as a penalty for the money laundering that had been going on for several years in Estonia.

However, the culpable department was shut down in 2015. We thus figured that we invested in a bank fully engaged in cleanup and self-questioning.

The bank submitted its internal review in September 2018, revealing much more comprehensive money laundering than we had assumed. Worse yet, the report exposed a pervasive culture of unacceptable attitudes in the bank, in the sense that top management and the Board should have acted several years ago. For a long time, the bank trusted the reporting from the Estonian branch and the group's overall money laundering routines. The reporting later turned out to have been deficient and misleading, and group routines failed.

The first internal whistleblowing came late in 2013. It put the case on the agenda for both group management and the Board. Measures taken in 2014 proved to be insufficient. Towards the end of 2014, there came a highly critical report from the Estonian supervisory authority, and the business was finally shut down in 2015.

The report and subsequent events indicate that the bank will receive fines from the Danish and possibly US authorities.

There is no doubt that Danske Bank has been a bad investment for Pareto Nordic Return. This way it is a regrettably striking illustration of the risk inherent in ESG issues.

In the present situation, our assessment is that it is appropriate to keep the Danske Bank securities. The bank itself has put all its cards on the table – although we have been inclined to draw the same conclusion earlier – and prematurely. The Danish Financial Supervisory Authority, which on a more general basis has praised the bank, criticises eleven members of management in its report. All of these eleven have now left the bank. Much indicates that we have now passed the ethical nadir. There is no doubt that, going forward, the bank will and wants to focus on ethics and law and order in its business conduct.

We note in passing that the Norwegian Government Pension Fund Global seems to share our assessment, having bought heavily into the bank.



#### Swedbank - shorting a scandal

We noted the following in our last report: Later there have been indications that other Nordic banks have been involved in similar money laundering in Estonia and the other Baltic countries. We will not rule out the possibility that other banks will have to join Danske Bank on our observation list.

Indeed.

At the time of producing this report, Swedbank is in the midst of a money laundering scandal after Swedish television revealed that suspiscious accounts had been used to transfer some 40 billion Swedish kronor.

The scandal raises obvious questions about management's ability and willingness to investigate the issue and CEO Birgitte Bonnesen has already been forced to resign. Inasmuch as news on the case is still coming out, we see little value in detailing more at this point.

Pareto Nordic Omega has a short position in Swedbank. We do not object to shorting companies with a lousy ESG record, which we know is a point of discussion in the investment community.

The short position was initiated before the scandal broke, so it has been a profitable position for the fund.

#### Wells Fargo - remains of a culture problem?

At the end of 2016, it was revealed that bank accounts in Wells Fargo were created without the approval of the clients. The audit firm PwC was engaged by Wells Fargo to uncover the scope. Their review documented that this involved up to 3.5 million deposit accounts and 565,000 credit card accounts.

In comparison, the bank had 82.8 million accounts with deposits of less than \$ 250,000 (estimates of the number of accounts for retail customers and small businesses) and 8.5 million active credit card accounts. It was further revealed that this had been going on from 2011 to the end of 2015.

The review pointed all the way to the top: Management's sales goals were so aggressive that some customer service representatives saw no other way of meeting their goals than going beyond their instructions.

The unauthorised accounts did not contribute to enhancing the bank's profitability or earnings and have probably been a net expense due to incorrect bonuses. Wells Fargo has paid \$ 185 million in settlements with public oversight bodies and reimbursed fees of \$ 2.6 million to customers associated with these accounts. The settlement in the class action suit was set at \$ 480m. In comparison, net profits in 2017 were \$ 22 billion.

Retail sales goals were lifted. In the future, customers will receive a confirmation email when bank accounts are created. All customers with deposits at the bank have been contacted to make sure they are satisfied with the accounts they have.

Management should have known that the aggressive sales targets could create an undesirable culture, and should have changed incentive schemes. After the breaches had been uncovered, management should have taken steps to demonstrate accountability through organisational changes and reclaim bonuses. This realisation led to CEO John Stumpf being asked to leave the company. A total of 5,300 employees were terminated as a result of the scandal, of whom 10 per cent were considered managers.

In the wake of this scandal, new cases appeared of lesser scope. In 2017 it was revealed that 570,000 customers had paid for car insurance they did not need. Other issues have been related to credit card fees, seizure of mortgaged cars, sale of complicated savings products and excessive fees in asset management.



In February of this year, new regulatory restrictions were imposed, limiting the size of Wells Fargo's balance to the level reported at the end of 2017. The injunction will be lifted when new control and risk systems are implemented and considered to be satisfactory by the U.S. Federal Reserve.

Traditionally, Wells Fargo has been considered a rather staid bank with high ethical standards. The bank has a long and good history with a solid balance sheet and low loan losses. We do believe that it is possible for Wells Fargo to win back the trust of both customers and investors.

And we have doubted our way to the conclusion that they deserve our trust as well, even though we have repeatedly had to realise that the cleanup was not completed after all.

In March, the company announced that CEO Tim Sloan (CEO) had resigned. Although the announcement did not say so, it was generally believed that the resignation was a consequence of political and/or stakeholder pressure.

#### Betsson – apt to create gambling addiction?

As stated on page 7, we have not chosen to enact a general ban on investment in gambling. However, we have declared that a precautionary principle must be applied when assessing such investments. Central to this assessment is the risk of gambling addiction.

The fund Pareto Nordic Return has invested in the Swedish gaming company Betsson. The company offers online casino, poker and other games with money bets. It is obvious that we must assess the risk of gambling addiction.

The company holds public licenses in regulated markets, which of course implies an incentive to operate in such a way that the licenses can be regarded as commercially safe in the long term. Betsson's most important markets are Sweden and the Netherlands, where there are clear rules for obtaining a license. We also note that the advocacy group Spillavhengighet Norge has opened up to the idea of licensing foreign gambling companies as an alternative to the Norwegian gambling monopoly. The idea is that the market is better regulated through a license-based regulatory framework.

This, however, is not sufficient. We need to investigate how Betsson manages this responsibility – and how it turns out. And, not least, whether investor leverage can influence the company's prioritisation of this area.

As of the quarterly report for the last quarter of 2017, Betsson has reported key figures for responsible gaming. The company expresses that providing gaming in a controlled and responsible manner is the key to satisfied, safe and loyal customers. We might add that it is also the key to keeping both government and investors satisfied and loyal.

The company has established its own department for responsible gaming. This department works closely with functions such as customer service and payments. In addition, they have developed software to monitor customer gaming activity and identify players who may have gambling addiction issues. Custom tools have been developed that customers can use to control their own gambling, and all employees are coached annually in order to recognise signs of gambling addiction. In 2017, the company also had an external review of procedures and tools for addiction management. It cooperates with the Global Gambling Guidance Group (G4) and Sustainable Interaction.

Such measures show the increasing commercial necessity of limiting the risk of gambling addiction; they also reveal that the problem is not eliminated. Betsson reports that 1.2 per cent of customer service inquiries in 2017 were about game addiction in one way or another.

With a large number of contacts, this means that there are many conversations about the subject. It also means that the company monitors and works to manage this problem. These conversations are referred to a team of specialists who are claimed to have extensive training in the field.



An investment in Betsson shares is not unproblematic and we have had discussions about the issue. Our preliminary conclusion is that we do not eliminate the company from our investment universe, where the company's obvious self-interest in limiting the problem – for both licensing and marketing and investor interest purposes – has been a weighty argument.

However, we will monitor how things develop and what is being done in the company.

#### Goldman Sachs - circumvention or a culture problem?

In the period 2009 to 2014, Goldman Sachs organised the issue of bonds for the Malaysian state investment fund 1 Malaysia Development Bhd ("1MDB") for a total of 6.5 billion dollars. The transaction fee totalled around 600 million, which is higher than normal. Admittedly, these issues could be considered more risky, but still the fee was very high.

According to Malaysia's summons to two former GoldmanSachs employees, Tim Leissner and Rogner NG, and an independent financier, Jho Low, 2.7 billion dollars were improperly transferred to bank accounts in 17 tax havens. Part of the money was allegedly used to bribe public employees in Malaysia and Abu Dhabi, including Malaysia's then prime minister.

Goldman Sachs has always claimed that the company has had no insight into the use of the borrowed money and, accordingly, that they have done nothing wrong.

On November 1, 2018, however, Tim Leissner, former chairman in South East Asia, declared guilty of money laundering and bribing public officials. The next day, Goldman Sachs wrote in their quarterly report that "any proceedings (...) could result in the impositions of significant fines, penalties and others sanctions against the firm". In the quarterly report, possible legal losses in excess of posted loss provisions were increased from 1.5 to 1.8 billion dollars.

The following week we could read that former CEO Lloyd Blankfein had met Malaysia's former prime minister in 2009 together with Leissner and Low. This meeting laid the basis for the relationship with the bank.

Leissner blamed Goldman Sach's culture when he declared guilty. He claimed there was a culture in the company of circumventing internal rules. The company claims, on its part, that Leissner deliberately withheld information from the company to circumvent internal regulations. The company has not made further comments on the matter, pointing to their cooperation with the US Department of Justice.

Pareto Global owns stock in Goldman Sachs. The shares fell by more than ten per cent on the last updates in the case. Most likely, this reduction in company value far exceeds foreseeable fines and reparations, so that it can also be read as testimony to a more basic assessment of the company from the stock market – and the possible price of poor governance.

At the time of writing this report, it is uncertain whether the reprehensible actions represent a few individuals circumventing internal rules and regulations, if they reflect a pervasive company culture, or if they have been downright approved from top management.

As of April 2019, no decisive new information has been published. Hence, we have still not reached a conclusion beyond the fairly obvious assessment that the company must be kept on our observation list.



### Nordic Swan Ecolabelled fixed income fund

On 26 September, Pareto Global Corporate Bond became the first fixed income fund in Norway, Sweden and Finland to receive the Nordic Swan Ecolabel.

In order to receive the Nordic Swan Ecolabel, a fund must fulfil 25 obligatory requirements that cover: disregarding poor companies (exclusion), choosing the better companies (inclusion) and operating openly (transparency) in order to receive a Swan label. The fund must also exclude or limit investments in certain industries and companies that are particularly problematic (fossil fuels, weapons and tobacco).

The Nordic Swan Ecolabelling requires the fund to include companies that work actively with sustainability, which entails:

- At least 90% of the fund's direct holdings must have been subject to a sustainability analysis/Environmental Social Governance analysis
- At least 50% of the fund's holdings must be investments in companies that have a good ESG rating
- Investments in green industries, such as renewable energy, wastewater treatment, etc. are rewarded

The Nordic Swan Ecolabel does not imply that all of the fund's companies are sustainable or without problems or challenges. The aim of the requirements is to make investments in a Nordic Ecolabelled fund move markets, industries and companies in a more sustainable direction.

Pareto Global Corporate Bond is highly selective when including companies in its investment universe. We take into account environmental, social and corporate governance factors by excluding any company included in the Norwegian Government Pension Fund exclusion list, as well as excluding companies based on our own assessment and the Swan Ecolabel requirements. In addition, we believe that combining this with "positive screening" towards sustainable companies and more defensive industries contributes to better long-term return for our clients.

The aim of Nordic Swan Ecolabelling of funds is to use the power of capital and ownership to steer companies in a more sustainable direction, and also to be an instrument for fund management companies to show that their funds fulfil stringent requirements.

The label was founded by the Nordic Council of Ministers in 1989, to assist consumers in making active choices that would benefit the environment. A Swan labelled fund is expected to be a sustainable alternative for both retail and professional fund investors, and means that the fund will include/exclude holdings and work in a transparent way to influence companies to support sustainability.

The application of the Swan label is conducted by Miljömärkning Sverige AB, which works on behalf of the government, and which does not represent any fund industry interests.







# Pareto Global Corporate Bond sustainability framework

As part of the Nordic Swan Ecolabel recognition, we have committed to a demanding process of verifying that all the holdings in the fund comply with the strict sustainability requirements of the Swan label at any time.

This poses several challenges, from limited reporting to multiple reporting standards and a disproportionate focus on environmental aspects at the expense of social issues and corporate governance. While companies tailor sustainability reports to their target audiences, we need to detect and see through greenwashing.

For this purpose, we have developed an ESG model that has been vetted by the Nordic Swan Ecolabelling. The fund must fulfil 25 obligatory requirements that cover: disregarding poor companies (exclusion), choosing the better companies (inclusion) and operating openly (transparency) in order to receive a Swan label.

We raise the bar for companies in higher-risk industries exposed to significant sustainability challenges versus companies in low-risk industries. Similarly, we strive to promote companies that work specifically with sustainable development, offering products and services with environmental and social benefits.

The task of integrating sustainability and identifying corporate governance issues is conducted through a fundamental ESG analysis prior to investments. The following examples provide an idea of the challenges we meet in implementing this analysis.

#### Positive ESG profiles and well-structured information

**GetLink** describes itself as a leader in eco-responsible transport and infrastructure solutions, and a major player in the European transportation sector engaged in the Eurotunnel. By enabling trains to use the Tunnel, GetLink contributes to the shift from short-haul air travel to rail, helping to save an estimated 2 million tonnes of CO2 annually compared to ferry travel / airlines.

Each year, Getlink publishes a Corporate Social Responsibility report. Whereas the report highlights notions like respect for the environment, regional roots, economic and cultural ties, which are invariably difficult to verify, it does include specific, quantifiable measures, reported according to GRI standards (Global Reporting Initiatives).

#### Positive ESG profile, reporting in need of improvement

Then we have smaller companies with limited resources and lower reporting requirements (i.e. they do not report according to GRI standards), such as **Småkraft**, the largest small-scale hydro power company in Norway. Småkraft invests, develops and operates small-scale hydropower plants in cooperation with local landowners. The business model has an uncontrovertibly positive effect on the climate and the company has provided strong evidence of active ESG engagement.

As for reporting, the company hired an external party (The Governance Group) to help develop their ESG profile and reporting framework. We were asked to participate in the process to help strengthen their sustainability profile. As a bond holder we highly value transparency and communication with the company, where the additional ESG effort was awarded in our company analysis.

#### A question of doubt

Phone operator **Lebara (VIEO)** is an example of possible non-conformity, in particular on governance issues.

In 2017 Lebara founders sold the business to a Swiss "family office" called Palmarium, which raised the bond to help pay for the acquisition. It soon surfaced that Lebara failed to provide investors with full financial disclosure and the requisite transparency on Palmarium's other investments, whereupon Palmarium's CFO – formerly a real estate agent in Florida – resigned.



VIEO has maintained a dialogue with its stakeholders to inform about its ongoing issues. We have requested meetings and telephone conferences with both the owners and the managers.

In December 2018 the company released a series of audited accounts and, in a separate press release, announced that their CEO was stepping down.

After meeting both the CEO and the CFO, as well as the release of audited accounts, we were able to feel greater comfort and allay a fair amount of doubt and scepticism. Despite initial shortcomings, the company now seems to act in a greatly improved and transparent manner. Our concern on a number of corporate governance issues has been addressed in a sufficiently satisfactory manner. PGCB is still a holder of the bond.

